

Pharmacology & Therapeutics

Pharmacology & Therapeutics 90 (2001) 45-60

Associate editor: D. R. Sibley

The endocannabinoid nervous system: unique opportunities for therapeutic intervention

Amy C. Porter, Christian C. Felder*

Neuroscience Division, Drop 0510, Lilly Research Laboratories, Indianapolis, IN 46285, USA

Abstract

The active principle in marijuana, Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), has been shown to have wide therapeutic application for a number of important medical conditions, including pain, anxiety, glaucoma, nausea, emesis, muscle spasms, and wasting diseases. Δ^9 -THC binds to and activates two known cannabinoid receptors found in mammalian tissue, CB1 and CB2. The development of cannabinoid-based therapeutics has focused predominantly on the CB1 receptor, based on its predominant and abundant localization in the CNS. Like most of the known cannabinoid agonists, Δ^9 -THC is lipophilic and relatively nonselective for both receptor subtypes. Clinical studies show that nonselective cannabinoid agonists are relatively safe and provide therapeutic efficacy, but that they also induce psychotropic side effects. Recent studies of the biosynthesis, release, transport, and disposition of anandamide are beginning to provide an understanding of the role of lipid transmitters in the CNS. This review attempts to link current understanding of the basic biology of the endocannabinoid nervous system to novel opportunities for therapeutic intervention. This new knowledge may facilitate the development of cannabinoid receptor-targeted therapeutics with improved safety and efficacy profiles. © 2001 Elsevier Science Inc. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Cannabinoid; Anandamide; Fatty acid amidohydrolase; Allosteric modulator

Abbreviations: cAMP, cyclic AMP; APCI, atmospheric pressure chemical ionization; FAAH, fatty acid amidohydrolase; GC, gas chromatography; GPCR, G-protein-coupled receptor; IOP, intraocular pressure; LC, liquid chromatography; MS, mass spectrometry; PMSF, phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride; THC, tetrahydrocannabinol; VR, vanilloid receptor.

Contents

1.	Introduction	46
2.	Historical background	46
3.	The anandaergic synapse	47
4.	Cannabinoid receptors	47
5.	Signal transduction.	49
6.	Endogenous cannabinoids	49
7.	Synthesis of endogenous cannabinoids	50
8.	Termination of endocannabinoid activity through high-affinity transport	50
9.	Metabolic disposal of anandamide via fatty acid amidohydrolase	51
10.	Measurement of endogenous cannabinoids	51
11.	Therapeutic manipulation of the endocannabinoid system	52
12.	Therapeutic indications	53
	12.1. Emesis	53
	12.2. Analgesia	53

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: 317-276-1380; fax: 317-276-5546. *E-mail address*: felder@lilly.com (C.C. Felder).

A.C. Porter, C.C. Felder / Pharmacology & Therapeutics 90 (2001) 45-60

	12.3.	Anxiety	4
	12.4.	Feeding behavior	4
	12.5.	Movement disorders	4
	12.6.	Glaucoma	4
	12.7.	Neuroprotection	4
	12.8.	Cardiovascular disease	5
13.	Summa	y	5
	Acknow	ledgments	5
	Referen	bes	5

1. Introduction

The marijuana plant has been exploited since the early history of humans for the structural fibers in its stalk and stems and the oily resin in its leaves and flowers. Hemp rope and cloth are regaining popularity with renewed interest in natural fibers. Similarly, the popularity of natural medicines has focused new attention on the plethora of therapeutic indications ascribed to marijuana. However, refining the use of marijuana for medicinal purposes has been difficult due to the inability to separate the undesirable psychotropic side effects from the therapeutic benefits. Only very recently have significant strides been made in understanding the molecular and pharmacological mechanisms behind the physiological actions of active cannabinoid compounds found in marijuana. An endocannabinoid system has been identified in mammals that include two receptors for cannabinoids, CB1 and CB2, which are widely distributed in the CNS and peripheral tissues. More recently, two endogenous lipid agonists, anandamide and 2-arachidonylglycerol, have been identified that bind and activate cannabinoid receptors. A basic understanding of the synthesis, release, and disposition of endocannabinoids is beginning to emerge, suggesting that lipids, like peptides, amino acids, and biogenic amines, can act as neurotransmitters. This review will focus on potential therapeutic opportunities for cannabinoid compounds in the CNS. A brief historical background will be followed by a review of recent research findings on the endocannabinoid system. These emerging data should help build an understanding of the function of the anandaergic synapse and its relationship to the development of novel therapeutic interventions.

2. Historical background

Early marijuana use depended on the inhalation of volatile oils generated in the smoke. Attempts were initiated at the turn of the century to isolate the active principals in marijuana. In the late 1800s, Wood, Spivey, and Easterfield described purifying "an intoxicating red oil" from cannabis, and later determined the chemical formula of cannabinol, which was not actually the predominant active component (reviewed in Todd, 1946). In his 1942 Harvey

Lecture, Roger Adams reported the structure and pharmacological effects of the tetrahydrocannabinols, the active components of cannabis. After the work of the 1940s, it was assumed that the psychoactive properties of marijuana were due to a complex mixture of tetrahydrocannabinol compounds. It was not until 1965 that the predominant active principal found in marijuana, Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), was identified (Mechoulam & Gaoni, 1965). This discovery led to the development of novel and significantly more potent cannabinoid agonists, which greatly facilitated further molecular pharmacological research (Melvin & Johnson, 1987).

Cannabinoid research was largely ignored in the first half of 20th century, influenced in part by political antimarijuana sentiment that began in the United States with the Harrison Act in 1914 and that led to full prohibition 20 years later. The sudden increase in recreational use of marijuana and other psychoactive drugs during the 1960s resulted in public concern about the potential negative health effects of chronic marijuana use. This stimulated renewed scientific investigation into the chemical constituents of marijuana and their mechanism of action. The United States Congress responded in 1972 with the creation of the National Institute of Drug Abuse, which stimulated a comprehensive research program into the medicinal properties of marijuana and other drugs of abuse.

In the 1970s, pharmaceutical companies became involved in the development of cannabinoid analogs for the treatment of a variety of illnesses. Pfizer (New York, NY, USA) synthesized a series of compounds significantly more potent than Δ^9 -THC, such as levonantradol. Levonantradol was developed for the non-opioid treatment of postoperative pain and emesis associated with cancer chemotherapy. However, dose-limiting psychotropic side effects, including dysphoria, dizziness, thought disturbance, and somnolence, limited its use, and further development was discontinued. Eli Lilly and Company (Indianapolis, IN, USA) developed several cannabinoid analogs in the 1970s for the treatment of chronic pain. One compound, nabilone, was taken into Phase II clinical trials for emesis, anxiety, and other indications (Lemberger, 1999). Phase III trials were conducted on nabilone specifically for emesis associated with cancer chemotherapy treatment. Although data suggested that the abuse potential for nabilone was low, the United States Drug Enforcement Agency insisted that it be listed as a Schedule II narcotic, resulting in restrictions on the way it was permitted to be prescribed. When the United States Food and Drug Administration requested further studies on the bioavailability of nabilone, the company decided to end its development. The British regulatory agency approved nabilone as an antiemetic without restrictions, and it has been in continual use since the 1970s, without drug abuse problems arising.

Over the last 20 years, the political and social attitude towards the medicinal use of marijuana has become more conducive to the therapeutic development of cannabinoids. Although still prohibited at the Federal level, medicinal use of smoked or ingested marijuana has been allowed through state referendums in Arizona, Nevada, Alaska, Washington, California, Oregon, Maine, and the District of Columbia in the last two years, and legislated in 2000 in Hawaii. In July 1999, marinol, an oral synthetic preparation of Δ^9 -THC, was reclassified from Schedule II narcotic to Schedule III drug, which eases restrictions on its prescription use. Recent deeper scientific understanding of the endocannabinoid system achieved over the last decade promises to improve our ability to develop more selective cannabinoid-based drugs. This review will provide a basis for understanding how selective targeting of specific physiological processes may offer unique opportunities for therapeutic interventions.

3. The anandaergic synapse

The cannabinoid receptor family includes two subtypes of G-protein-coupled cannabinoid receptors, CB1 (Matsuda et al., 1990) and CB2 (Munro et al., 1993), as well as a splice variant of the CB1 receptor (Shire et al., 1995; Rinaldi-Carmona et al., 1996). The CB1 receptor is widely distributed in the brain and the spinal cord, and is the only known subtype found to date in the CNS. CB1 is predominantly expressed presynaptically, and its primary action is to decrease the release of neurotransmitters, including dopamine, norepinephrine, glutamate, and serotonin (Ishac et al., 1996; Kathmann et al., 1999; Nakazi et al., 2000; Shen et al., 1996; Szabo et al., 1999). Endogenous cannabinoid agonists, including anandamide, have been identified that bind to and activate the cannabinoid receptors. These novel lipid compounds satisfy all of the criteria for a neurotransmitter, based on their synthesis and release from neurons, binding and activation of cannabinoid receptors, blockade of their actions by competitive antagonists, and the presence of a mechanism for the termination of their actions. A facilitated carrier-mediated process and cytoplasmic enzymatic degradation terminate the action of anandamide in the synapse. The endocannabinoid system is capable of interacting with several signal transduction pathways, as well as other receptor families, to affect a wide variety of physiological processes.

4. Cannabinoid receptors

A distinct cannabinoid-binding site was first proposed when behavioral pharmacological experiments showed that the (-)enantiomers of three different cannabinoid ligands, levonantradol, CP55,244, and CP55,940, were much more potent than their respective (+)enantiomers (Little et al., 1988). At the molecular level, Δ^9 -THC inhibited the activity of adenylate cyclase and decreased cellular levels of cyclic AMP (cAMP), indicating that its actions were mediated by a member of the G-proteincoupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily (Howlett, 1984; Howlett & Fleming, 1984). Sensitivity to pertussis toxin provided further confirmation that cannabinoid ligands were acting through a Gi-protein-coupled mechanism (Howlett et al., 1986). However, direct receptor-binding studies proved difficult due to the lipophilic nature of cannabinoid ligands. With the synthesis of more potent cannabinoid ligands (Melvin & Johnson, 1987) (Table 1), receptor-binding studies became possible and provided direct evidence for cannabinoid receptors in the brain (Devane et al., 1988).

The first cannabinoid receptor, CB1, was cloned from rat in 1990 using a screening approach based on sequence similarity with known GPCRs (Matsuda et al., 1990). Using a similar approach, a second cannabinoid receptor subtype, the human CB2, was cloned in 1993 (Munro et al., 1993). An amphibian cannabinoid receptor has been cloned recently, suggesting evolutionary conservation of the endocannabinoid system (Soderstrom et al., 2000). The pharmacology of cannabinoid ligands is strikingly similar between the two receptors, although their sequence homology at the proposed ligand-binding domains is only 68% (Munro et al., 1993). This is in contrast to other members of the GPCR family, where a single amino acid substitution within specific regions of the binding pocket can lead to significant changes in receptor pharmacology (Parker et al., 1993; Link et al.,

Table 1		
Cannabinoid	receptor	ligands

	CB1	CB2
Endogenous agonists	Anandamide	Anandamide
	2-arachidonylglycerol	palmitoylethanolamide
Receptor-selective	Δ^9 -THC	Δ^9 -THC
agonists	CP-55,940	CP-55,940
-	WIN55212-2	WIN55212-2
	HU210	HU210
	Levonantradol	Levonantradol
	Nabilone	Nabilone
	Methanandamide	Methanandamide
		JWH-015
		JWH-133
Receptor-selective	SR141716A	SR144528
antagonists	AM630	AM630
	LY320135	

1992). The pharmacology of cannabinoid receptors across species is just beginning to be investigated. Although the CB1 receptor sequence and pharmacology appears to be conserved across species, the CB2 receptor exhibits some pharmacological differences between rat, mouse, and humans (Griffin et al., 2000). Additional cannabinoid receptor family members have not been identified yet, but if found, they may have significantly different sequences from the CB1 and CB2 receptors.

The CB1 receptor originally was thought to be the predominant form found in the brain, while the CB2 was considered the peripheral cannabinoid receptor. Recently, however, questions are being raised about the absolute distribution of the two subtypes. The CB1 subtype is expressed in several brain regions associated with memory and movement, including hippocampus, cerebellum, and basal ganglia (Johnson et al., 1992). CB1 is also expressed in several peripheral tissues, including lung (Rice et al., 1997), presynaptic sympathetic nerve terminals (Ishac et al., 1996), mouse vas deferens (Pertwee et al., 1996), vascular endothelial cells (Liu et al., 2000), vascular smooth muscle cells (Holland et al., 1999), and hematopoetic cells (Bouaboula et al., 1993). CB2 receptors are associated primarily with the spleen and cells of the immune system (Munro et al., 1993; Lynn & Herkenham, 1994), and there is preliminary evidence for CB2 expression in brain-derived immune cells (Galve-Roperh et al., 2000).

There is growing evidence, based on expression patterns in key brain regions, that cannabinoid receptors play a role in the development of the brain (for a review, see Fernandez-Ruiz et al., 2000). Early studies described cannabinoid receptor binding in developing human (Mailleux & Vanderhaeghen, 1992) and rat (Rodriguez de Fonseca et al., 1993) brain. A detailed study of CB1 expression in human brain found that expression levels differ with developmental age. CB1 expression is substantially higher in the fetal and neonatal human brain when compared with the adult brain, and there are high levels of cannabinoid receptors in neonatal brain regions, which express very low levels during adulthood (Glass et al., 1997). In the rat, mRNA for CB1 was found very early in development at embryonic day 11 in the neural tube, and CB2 mRNA was found in the liver at embryonic day 13 (Buckley et al., 1998). Despite this evidence, no obvious developmental defects have been observed in CB1, CB2, or CB1/CB2 knockout mice (Zimmer et al., 1999; Jarai et al., 1999; Buckley et al., 2000). However, there was a significant increase in mortality in CB1 receptor knockout mice, the cause of which has yet to be determined (Zimmer et al., 1999).

Pharmacological and physiological evidence suggests that there may be other cannabinoid receptor subtypes that have yet to be cloned and characterized. For example, the vasodilatory actions of anandamide may be independent of the CB1 receptor in the mesenteric arterial bed (reviewed in Hillard, 2000). The potent CB1 agonist WIN55212-2 causes vasodilatation in the cat cerebral artery (Gebremedhin et al., 1999). However, WIN55212-2 and HU210 do not cause vasodilatation in the rat mesenteric arterial bed, while the endogenous ligand anandamide does cause vasodilatation in this same location (Wagner et al., 1999). Moreover, in CB1 knockout mice, as well as CB1/CB2 double knockout mice, anandamide-induced mesenteric vasodilatation is intact (Jarai et al., 1999). Taken together, these data suggest that another receptor, distinct from CB1 and CB2, may mediate the endothelial cell-dependent vasorelaxation of anandamide. A possible candidate is the vanilloid receptor VR1, which is a nonselective cation channel activated by capsaicin. The VR1 ion channel has no homology to either CB1 or CB2 receptors, yet it is activated by anandamide, and this activation results in vasorelaxation (Zygmunt et al., 1999; Smart et al., 2000). The anandamide transport inhibitor AM404, which is structurally related to anandamide, has also been shown to activate VR1 receptors by a mechanism distinct from its ability to inhibit transport (Zygmunt et al., 2000). To date, no other cannabinoid ligands have been tested for their ability to activate VR1 receptors.

Additional evidence for non-CB1 or -CB2 cannabinoid receptors comes from studies with palmitoylethanolamide. It has been suggested that palmitoylethanolamide acts as a CB2-selective agonist to inhibit mast cell activation (Facci et al., 1995). In addition, local injection of palmitoylethanolamide has been shown to inhibit formalin-induced pain in mice, and this effect was reversed by the CB2 antagonist SR144528 (Calignano et al., 1998). However, in vitro data in CB2-expressing cell lines across different species, does not support this claim (Felder et al., 1992; Showalter et al., 1996; Sugiura et al., 2000). This and other evidence has led to the suggestion of the existence of a novel non-CB1, non-CB2 receptor subtype, designated CBn (Di Marzo, 1998; Lambert & Di Marzo, 1999).

Knockout mice for the CB1 receptor (Ledent et al., 1999; Zimmer et al., 1999), the CB2 receptor (Buckley et al., 2000), and both CB1 and CB2 receptors (Jarai et al., 1999) have been generated. Cannabinoid modulation of helper T-cell function through macrophages is deficient in CB2 receptor knockout mice (Buckley et al., 2000). Loss of the CB1 receptor results in hypoalgesia, as well as hypoactivity, and increased mortality (Zimmer et al., 1999). Stress-induced release of endogenous opioids is decreased in CB1 knockout mice (Valverde et al., 2000), indicating a connection between the opioid and endocannabinoid systems. Morphine fails to induce dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of CB1 knockout mice, suggesting that the endocannabinoid system may be involved in the rewarding properties of opioids (Mascia et al., 1999). Mice lacking the CB1 receptor also show an enhancement in long-term potentiation (Bohme et al., 2000), which may explain the detrimental effects of marijuana on memory and learning.

5. Signal transduction

CB1 and CB2 couple primarily to the inhibition of adenylate cyclase through the inhibitory G-protein, G_i . This coupling has been shown following the heterologous expression of each receptor in mammalian cell lines; however, it has been shown in native tissues or primary cell culture only for CB1 receptors.

The ability of cannabinoid receptor agonists to interact with ion channels was first demonstrated in 1992 (Caulfield & Brown, 1992; Mackie & Hille, 1992). Caulfield and Brown (1992) showed inhibition of voltage-activated Ca²⁺ currents by a pertussis toxin-sensitive mechanism. Mackie and Hille (1992) also showed that cannabinoids inhibit N-type Ca²⁺ channels in NG108 cells through a receptor-mediated mechanism requiring pertussis toxinsensitive G-proteins. CB1 receptors have also been shown to inhibit N- and P/O-type Ca^{2+} channels in cultured rat hippocampal neurons (Twitchell et al., 1997). Inhibition of Ca^{2+} channel activity provides a mechanism by which CB1 receptors reduce neurotransmitter release and decrease neuronal cell excitability. In the cerebral vasculature, anandamide inhibits L-type Ca²⁺ channels, resulting in vasorelaxation (Gebremedhin et al., 1999). Cannabinoid receptors activate inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (Mackie et al., 1995), as well as increase activation of the voltage-dependent K⁺ A current (by decreased inactivation) (Deadwyler et al., 1993). Cannabinoid-receptor activation also reduces the amplitude of the K⁺ D current (Mu et al., 1999). Ion channel regulation appears to be a feature associated exclusively with CB1 and not CB2 receptors (Felder et al., 1995).

Studies with cannabinoid receptor antagonists indicate that there may be a constant tonic level of signaling by both CB1 and CB2 receptors in the absence of agonist. For example, SR141716A (Landsman et al., 1997) and AM630 (Landsman et al., 1998) both act as inverse agonists at the CB1 receptor in a GTP-binding assay. SR144528 also acts as an inverse agonist at the CB2 receptor in a cAMP reporter assay (Portier et al., 1999). The constitutive activity of cannabinoid receptors could have important implications for cellular signaling. Chronic treatment with SR144528 increases the expression level of G_i protein (Bouaboula et al., 1999b). Chronic treatment with SR141716A increases CB1 receptor protein at the cell membrane, and sensitizes it to agonist (Rinaldi-Carmona et al., 1998). These data indicate that inverse agonists may be another class of ligands that could be utilized to modulate the endocannabinoid system.

The signaling pathways activated by cannabinoid receptors downstream of G_i are just beginning to be elucidated. Mitogen-activated protein kinase, which regulates proliferation and differentiation, is activated by CB1 receptors (Bouaboula et al., 1995). Stimulation of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger by CB1, through mitogen-activated protein kinase activation, alters cellular pH, and has been

hypothesized to lead to alterations in the excitability of neuronal cells (Bouaboula et al., 1999a). Stress-related kinases, p38, and c-jun amino terminal kinase are also activated by CB1 receptors (Liu et al., 2000). Stimulation of protein kinase B/Akt by CB1 receptors, which increases glycogen synthesis through activation of glycogen synthase, indicates that CB1 may play a role in cell proliferation and energy metabolism (Gomez del Pulgar et al., 2000). Immediate early gene expression in the striatum has been linked to cannabinoid receptor stimulation (Glass & Dragunow, 1995).

Cross talk with other neurotransmitter receptor systems can expand the intracellular signal transduction pathways utilized by cannabinoid receptors. For example, when activated individually, both CB1 and the dopamine D2 receptor couple to inhibition of adenylate cyclase and decrease cellular cAMP levels. However, when both types of receptors are activated simultaneously in striatal neurons in primary culture, there is an increase in cellular cAMP levels (Glass & Felder, 1997). In addition to coupling to G_s when co-stimulated with the D₂ receptor, the CB1 receptor is also able to couple to G_s when G_i is inactivated by pertussis toxin (Felder et al., 1998). The specific agonist occupying the receptor can also dictate coupling of cannabinoid receptors to specific types of G-proteins (Glass & Northup, 1999). In both active and inactive states, CB1 receptors are able to sequester Gi/o proteins and to inhibit signal transduction by other families of receptors that couple to $G_{i/a}$ (Vasquez & Lewis, 1999). There is also evidence that other neurotransmitter systems can modulate endogenous cannabinoid release. Activation of D₂ receptors with dopamine agonists has been shown to increase release of anandamide, an endogenous cannabinoid ligand, in the striatum (Giuffrida et al., 1999). Thus, the local synaptic environment can provide additional levels of regulation beyond the known, direct-signaling pathways.

6. Endogenous cannabinoids

A search for endogenous agonists for the CB1 receptor followed closely behind the cloning of the receptor (Table 1). First identified and characterized by Devane et al. (1992), anandamide or arachidonylethanolamide was found to be an eicosanoid of novel structure. Anandamide was isolated from porcine brain and found to have properties similar to the plant-derived agonist THC (Devane et al., 1992). It binds both the CB1 and CB2 receptors, but has higher affinity for the CB1 receptor (Felder et al., 1995). Anandamide has been measured in human and rat brain, with the highest concentration in hippocampus, cortex, thalamus, and cerebellum (Felder et al., 1996).

Anandamide belongs to a family of nitrogen-containing fatty acid derivatives. Fatty acid amides were first discovered in the lipid fraction of chicken eggs, based on their anti-inflammatory properties (Kuehl et al., 1957). The enzymatic synthesis of fatty acid amides was subsequently observed in liver microsomes, and this class of molecules was isolated, characterized, and quantitated in tissues (Bachur et al., 1965). Fatty acid amides were found to be elevated in canine myocardium following ischemia, although molecules containing arachidonic acid were not identified in the extracts, possibly due to their relatively low concentration (Epps et al., 1979). Arachidonylethanolamide was also discovered while investigating ligands that modify L-type voltage-sensitive ion channels (Johnson et al., 1993). It is not clear if receptors exist for all fatty acid amides or ethanolamides, or if only a specific subset acts in a signaling or transmitter role.

In addition to anandamide, other endogenous cannabinoid receptor agonists, all of which are fatty acid derivatives, have been identified. These include dihomo-ylinolenylethanolamide, adrenylethanolamide, and meadethanolamide (Hanus et al., 1993; Felder et al., 1993; Priller et al., 1995). More recently, 2-arachidonyl-glycerol, discovered in canine gut, has been shown to have cannabinoid agonist activity, but at more modest potencies and efficacies compared with anandamide (Mechoulam et al., 1995). 2-Arachidonyl-glycerol may be more selective for CB2 receptors under certain conditions (Sugiura et al., 2000). Palmitoylethanolamide has been proposed as a cannabinoid agonist (Facci et al., 1995), although it does not bind to either the CB1 or CB2 receptors (Felder et al., 1992; Showalter et al., 1996; Sugiura et al., 2000). However, cannabinoid-like physiological effects have been shown with palmitoylethanolamide, suggesting the existence of other cannabinoid receptor subtypes (Di Marzo & Deutsch, 1998).

7. Synthesis of endogenous cannabinoids

In order to establish that endogenous cannabinoids act as neurotransmitters, biosynthetic and degradative processes must be demonstrated. Because these ligands are very lipophilic, they would most likely not be stored in the aqueous interior of synaptic vesicles. It has been shown that phospholipid molecules found within the membrane phospholipid pool serve as precursor and storage depots for anandamide release (Di Marzo et al., 1994; Sugiura et al., 1996a, 1996b). Phosphatidylethanolamine is enzymatically converted to N-arachidonylphosphatidylethanolamine, the storage form of anandamide. This occurs through transfer of arachidonic acid from rare phospholipids containing arachidonic acid in the sn-1 position to the sn-3 position of phosphatidylethanolamine via N-acyltransferase, a Ca²⁺dependent enzyme. Anandamide is released from N-arachidonylphosphatidylethanolamine through cleavage of the phosphodiester bond by an as yet uncharacterized phospholipase D, which can also be activated by Ca²⁺ (Di Marzo et al., 1996). An alternative pathway has been postulated for the formation of anandamide from arachidonic acid and

ethanolamine by a synthase enzyme (Deutsch & Chin, 1993; Devane & Axelrod, 1994). A recombinant fatty acid amidohydrolase (FAAH), responsible for degradation of anandamide, has been shown to be capable of anandamide synthesis from arachidonic acid and ethanolamine in vitro, although high K_m values indicate that synthesis does not occur in vivo (Kurahashi et al., 1997; Katayama et al., 1999). FAAH, operating in reverse, is most likely responsible for the synthase activity previously described.

Release of endogenous cannabinoids into the synapse is regulated by several different signals. Depolarizing stimuli, such as ionomycin and high K^+ , induce release of anandamide (Di Marzo et al., 1994). Glutamate stimulation of cultured neuronal cells also increases formation of anandamide (Hansen et al., 1999). Agonist binding to a D₂-like dopamine receptor and K^+ -stimulated depolarization increase the level of anandamide in the striatum (Giuffrida et al., 1999).

8. Termination of endocannabinoid activity through high-affinity transport

Signal termination for anandamide follows a mechanism similar to that for classical neurotransmitters, including reuptake across the plasma membrane. However, due to their hydrophobic properties, endocannabinoids appear to follow two routes of cellular reuptake, involving both facilitated and passive diffusion. A specific transporter or facilitative carrier protein, which provides a mechanism for high-affinity uptake of endocannabinoids, has been characterized, but has not been isolated or cloned yet.

Initial studies on the fate of anandamide and palmitoylethanolamide showed that these endocannabinoids were taken up by neuroblastoma and glioma cells in culture and that they are rapidly degraded by a membrane-associated amidase that is inhibited by phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (Deutsch & Chin, 1993). A subsequent study showed that anandamide uptake by central neurons is rapid, saturable, and temperature dependent, implicating a specific carrier protein (Di Marzo et al., 1994). Anandamide transport is not coupled to ion gradients, and does not require ATP (Hillard et al., 1997). The K_m and V_{max} values for anandamide transport are similar in both rat mast cells (Rakhshan et al., 2000) and cerebellar granule cells (Hillard et al., 1997). 2-Arachidonylglycerol, (R)methanandamide, and Δ^9 -THC have been shown to block anandamide transport, indicating that other cannabinoid ligands may also be substrates for the anandamide transporter (Rakhshan et al., 2000). Inhibitors of known, wellcharacterized transporter proteins, including bromocresol green, cocaine, and verapamil, did not inhibit anandamide uptake in RBL-2H3 cells, indicating that the transporter may be a novel protein (Rakhshan et al., 2000). Competitive blockade of high-affinity anandamide transport by AM404 in rat cortical neurons was shown to enhance the receptor-mediated effects of anandamide, suggesting a potential for therapeutic intervention through transporter blockade (Beltramo et al., 1997).

Despite all of the evidence for its existence, an anandamide transport protein has yet to be cloned. Barker and co-workers suggested a number of known proteins that may function as the anandamide transporter, including fatty acid translocases, plasma membrane fatty acid-binding proteins, and fatty acid transport proteins (Rakhshan et al., 2000). It is also possible that the anandamide transporter will be a unique molecule, unrelated to previously described fatty acid transport proteins.

9. Metabolic disposal of anandamide via fatty acid amidohydrolase

Termination of endocannabinoid activity appears to be a two-step process that involves facilitated transport followed by enzymatic degradation by FAAH (reviewed in (Di Marzo & Deutsch, 1998)). An enzyme responsible for anandamide hydrolysis was partially characterized and found to be membrane-associated, pH-dependent, selective, and sensitive to blockade by PMSF (Desarnaud et al., 1995; Hillard et al., 1995; Maurelli et al., 1995; Ueda et al., 1997; Watanabe et al., 1998). This enzyme was cloned in 1996 and was characterized as an FAAH. Molecular characterization of FAAH revealed a catalytic domain similar to other amidases, a transmembrane domain, and an SH₃ protein-protein interaction domain (Cravatt et al., 1996). In addition to its amidase activity, FAAH possesses esterase activity that may be responsible for hydrolysis of 2-arachidonoylglycerol (Patricelli & Cravatt, 1999; Di Marzo et al., 1998). In rat hippocampal slices, the ability of anandamide to inhibit acetylcholine release was enhanced by inhibition of FAAH activity with AM374 (Gifford et al., 1999b) in much the same manner as inhibition of the transporter enhanced anandamide activity in another study (Beltramo et al., 1997).

Both recombinant FAAH (Kurahashi et al., 1997; Arreaza et al., 1997) and crude enzyme extract preparations (Ueda et al., 1995; Schmid et al., 1985; Devane & Axelrod, 1994; Sugiura et al., 1996a) have been shown to have anandamide synthase activity in vitro. However, the synthase activity was dependent on very high concentrations of arachidonic acid and ethanolamine, with K_m values in the high micromolar to low millimolar range. Therefore, the enzyme probably acts primarily through its hydrolase, not synthase, activity under physiological conditions (Ueda & Yamamoto, 2000).

A recent study suggests a connection between the transport process and the enzymatic degradation of endocannabinoids. PMSF, arachidonyl trifluoromethyl ketone, and methyl arachidonyl fluorophosphonate, inhibitors of FAAH activity, reduce anandamide uptake in RBL-2H3 cells (Rakhshan et al., 2000). The most potent FAAH inhibitor, methyl arachidonyl fluorophosphonate, only inhibited transport by 50% at a concentration well above its K_i value, indicating that FAAH alone does not facilitate anandamide transport (Rakhshan et al., 2000).

10. Measurement of endogenous cannabinoids

Since the early 1990s, reports of the measurement of endogenous cannabinoids in brain, as well as peripheral tissues, have been published (Tables 2 and 3). However, the lipophilic nature and relatively short half-life of these compounds have made measurement challenging. Techniques for extraction, partial purification, and quantitation of endogenous cannabinoids vary widely, and some procedures may introduce artifacts in the estimation of tissue levels. Anandamide has been extracted from tissue or bodily fluids using a variety of organic solvents, including acetone, toluene, ethyl acetate, chloroform, or a mixture of chloroform and methanol. It has been reported that anandamide can be generated chemically during the extraction procedure in the presence of acid or base (Yang et al., 1999) and that anandamide levels increase as postmortem collection time increases (Schmid et al., 1995; Felder et al., 1996).

Following solvent extraction, anandamide has been partially purified using thin-layer chromatography or solid phase extraction. Several different techniques have been used to measure anandamide after extraction and partial purification, including gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS), liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC/MS), and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) LC/MS, as well as LC/MS/MS. Each of these methods has associated limitations. For example, GC/MS requires derivatization of anandamide prior to analysis. LC/ MS is less selective than LC/MS/MS, where an initial molecular ion is selected and then fragmented to give a characteristic second molecular ion. However, MS/MS requires specialized and relatively expensive instrumentation. The inclusion of an internal standard allows measure-

Table 2 Measurement of anandamide in brain tissue

	Anandamide		
Species and tissue	pmol/g	Method	Reference
Pig brain	380	GC/MS	Devane et al., 1992
Pig brain	17 ± 2.9	GC/MS	Schmid et al., 1995
Rat brain	N.D.	GC/MS	Kempe et al., 1996
Rat brain	4.3 ± 1.1	GC/MS	Sugiura et al., 1996a
Rat thalamus	20	LC/MS/MS	Felder et al., 1996
Rat hippocampus	29		
Human cerebellum	30		
Human hippocampus	110		
Sheep	N.D.	GC/MS	Schmid et al., 1996
Cow	9-11		
Rat brain	11 ± 7	GC/MS	Cadas et al., 1997
Rat hippocampus	45.8 ± 2.6	GC/MS	Bisogno et al., 1999
Rat brain	N.D.	GC/MS	Yang et al., 1999

N.D., not detectable.

Table 3

Species and brain region	Basal anandamide	Stimula
Measurement of anandamide in	brain microdialysate	

Species and brain region	Basal anandamide	Stimulation % of basal	Method	Reference
Rat periaqueductal gray	2.79±0.27 fmol 15 min	Electrical (140%) Pain(140%)	LC/APCI-MS	Walker et al., 1999
Rat dorsal striatum	1 μL/min 1.5±0.3 pmol 30 min 10 μL/min	KCl (175%) D ₂ agonist (800%)	GC/MS	Giuffrida et al., 1999

ment data to be normalized to a ratio of anandamide to internal standard, thereby increasing measurement accuracy. The use of APCI-MS has been reported to increase the sensitivity of anandamide measurement down to the femtomolar level (Koga et al., 1997). Ultimately, it will be necessary to achieve a balance between selectivity and sensitivity for the measurement of endocannabinoids.

There is a large disparity in the measurement of anandamide levels reported in the literature. Several groups have found undetectable levels of anandamide in rat brain (Kempe et al., 1996; Yang et al., 1999). Other groups have found levels ranging from 4.3 pmol/g (Sugiura et al., 1996a) to 11 pmol/g (Cadas et al., 1997) in whole brain, 20 pmol/g in rat thalamus, and 29 pmol/g in rat hippocampus (Felder et al., 1996). Table 2 shows the levels of anandamide measured in the brains of various species. Anandamide has also been measured in peripheral tissues, including kidney (Deutsch et al., 1997), uterus (Schmid et al., 1997b), spleen (Yang et al., 1999), macrophages (Schmid et al., 1997a), blood (Giuffrida & Piomelli, 1998), and skin (Felder et al., 1996).

Similar to developmental expression patterns of the cannabinoid receptors, there appear to be differences in anandamide levels in rat brain at different developmental stages (for a review, see Fernandez-Ruiz et al., 2000). Koga et al. (1997) measured anandamide levels in the cerebrum, cerebellum, and hippocampus, along with several peripheral tissues at different postnatal developmental stages. Very low levels of anandamide were detected in the cerebrum, cerebellum, and hippocampus in 2-week-old rats. The levels increased across all brain regions at 6 weeks, and further increased at 12 weeks. By 24 weeks, the levels of anandamide had markedly decreased over all 3 brain regions. This pattern mirrors what has been observed for the expression pattern of the CB1 receptor during development. Fatty acid amides of varying chain length and degrees of saturation are released along with anandamide. Further research is necessary to determine if these molecules work alone or in concert to regulate development.

Recently, two groups have measured anandamide under basal and stimulated conditions in microdialysate from rat brains (Table 3). Walker et al. (1999) measured anandamide by LC/APCI-MS in rat periaqueductal gray. In response to painful stimuli, there was a 140% increase in basal anandamide levels. This report suggests that attomolar levels of anandamide could be detected in microdialysate; however, LC/MS was used with no internal standard. Giuffrida et al. (1999) measured anandamide in the dorsal striatum using GC/MS, with a limit of detection in the picomolar range. They report a 175% increase in basal levels of anandamide in response to KCl stimulation and an 800% increase in response to the dopamine D_2 agonist quinpirole. The reason for the large difference in anandamide levels with the two stimuli is not clear.

The ability to measure anandamide levels in the brains of freely moving rats subjected to a variety of stimuli will enable us to further characterize the involvement of cannabinoid signaling in numerous physiological pathways. Currently, there is substantial variation in the literature regarding anandamide levels in brain and peripheral tissues, challenging even the most parsimonious conclusions. Ultimately, selective and sensitive measurement will improve, and along with it our understanding of the storage, release, and reuptake of this and other endogenous cannabinoids.

11. Therapeutic manipulation of the endocannabinoid system

The ability of the endocannabinoid system to modulate other neurotransmitter systems could be leveraged using several approaches. One obvious approach is activation or antagonism of the CB1 receptor. Dose-limiting psychotropic side effects have restricted the use of direct-acting receptor agonists. However, development of partial receptor agonists might alleviate side effects, and the large CB1 receptor reserve in the brain makes a partial agonist a viable therapeutic approach (Gifford et al., 1999a). Partial agonists have the added advantage of decreased receptor downregulation, and, therefore, patients may be less likely to develop tolerance to treatment.

There are two potential mechanisms of action of cannabinoid antagonists. Because there seems to be a tonic, constitutive level of cannabinoid receptor activity in the absence of agonist, both a neutral antagonist, as well as an inverse agonist, have potential as therapeutic agents. Neutral antagonists would block increased activation by agonist. Inverse agonists have the ability to decrease the constitutive level of receptor activation in the absence of agonist.

A higher degree of therapeutic specificity may be achieved through the use of receptor subtype-selective potentiators or allosteric modulators. Modulators have been identified for many GPCRs. These compounds can increase or decrease the response to agonists, and are devoid of intrinsic agonist activity (Lazareno et al., 2000; Tian et al., 2000). The use of a potentiator for the CB1 receptor has the advantage of affecting only the receptors that are being activated by endogenous ligand. This may alleviate many of the side effects associated with administration of exogenous cannabinoid ligands that act at both active and inactive anandaergic synapses.

Recent information concerning the release, reuptake, and degradation of endogenous cannabinoids introduces new areas of therapeutic manipulation. Reuptake inhibitors have been used clinically for a number of neurotransmitter systems, including serotonin and norepinephrine, to treat depression, anxiety, and other psychiatric disorders (Wong et al., 1995; Kent, 2000). Selective reuptake inhibitors of anandamide transport have already been identified (Beltramo et al., 1997). These inhibitors would function in much the same way as receptor potentiators, in that only the receptors exposed to increases in endogenous ligand would be affected, decreasing the chances of undesirable side effects. In addition, inhibitors of FAAH, the enzyme responsible for anandamide degradation, have also been identified (Boger et al., 1999, 2000). This class of compounds would increase the time of activation of cannabinoid receptors in a manner similar to cholinesterase inhibitors, which currently are being used to increase the half-life of acetylcholine in the synapse to treat Alzheimer's Disease (VanDenBerg et al., 2000; Emilien et al., 2000). However, the broad distribution of FAAH in both the CNS and peripheral tissues raises concerns about the specificity of this approach.

12. Therapeutic indications

The molecular basis for the physiological effects of cannabinoids and endocannabinoids is just beginning to be elucidated. One of the major mechanisms whereby the endocannabinoid system exerts its physiological effects is through interaction with, and modulation of, other neuro-transmitter systems. Activation of cannabinoid receptors affects a number of intracellular signaling pathways, and leads to activation of K⁺ channels and inhibition of adenylate cyclase and voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels. Ultimately, in the CNS, the cannabinoid system decreases the release of neurotransmitters into the synapse, modulating synaptic transmission. Cannabinoids act through cannabinoid receptors to modulate dopamine, glutamate, opiate, adrenergic, and possibly other systems.

There is anecdotal evidence for the therapeutic benefit of cannabinoid agonists in a variety of human disease conditions over many centuries. Recently, however, in depth research efforts have begun to document the biological mechanisms involved. In addition, it is becoming clear that antagonism of cannabinoid receptors may also have important therapeutic applications. Several well-recognized side effects of cannabinoid agonists have hampered the use of

these compounds in treatment protocols. These include sedation, cognitive dysfunction, tachycardia, postural hypotension, dry mouth, ataxia, and immunosuppressant effects, as well as psychotropic effects. The side effect profile of cannabinoid antagonists is less well understood. The physiological mechanisms responsible for generating the known side effects associated with either agonists or antagonists have not been established. Lack of pharmacological selectivity may contribute to these side effects, since previously developed cannabinoid agonists are relatively equiselective for CB1 or CB2 receptors. Therefore, it may be possible to avoid many, if not all, of the undesirable side effects through novel mechanistic approaches based on recent discoveries. These approaches include targeting a single cannabinoid receptor subtype, as well as targeting release, reuptake, or degradation of endogenous cannabinoids.

12.1. Emesis

One of the earliest and most widely studied therapeutic benefits of cannabinoids is the treatment of nausea and vomiting. Nausea is a devastating side effect of cancer chemotherapy. Studies in the 1970s and early 1980s with synthetic cannabinoids, as well as smoked marijuana, provided proof of their effectiveness as antiemetic agents. Eli Lilly and Company's synthetic cannabinoid, nabilone, originally was developed as an antiemetic for co-administration with cancer chemotherapeutic agents. It has been used for this purpose for over 20 years in the United Kingdom (Lemberger, 1999). Nabilone has also been shown to be useful in treating nausea and vomiting associated with anesthesia after abdominal surgery (Lewis et al., 1994), as well as radiation therapy (Priestman et al., 1987).

12.2. Analgesia

Cannabinoids have the potential to be useful as pain medications. Cannabinoid agonists elicit antinociception by spinal routes measured by the tail-flick assay and supraspinal routes measured by the hot-plate assay. These effects can be blocked by specific CB1 antagonists (reviewed in Martin & Lichtman, 1998; Manzanares et al., 1999). Reports indicate that cannabinoids can act independently and/or in concert with opioids to modulate the pain response (Welch & Stevens, 1992; Smith et al., 1994; Meng et al., 1998). Also, cannabinoid compounds have been shown to be effective in a rat model of allodynic pain (pain resulting from normally innocuous stimuli) (Martin et al., 1999). Other types of pathological pain, which are resistant to all current therapies and represent a significant unmet health need, can also be treated with cannabinoids (Mao et al., 2000). The peripheral CB2 receptor may be involved in pain modulation at the site of injury through inhibition of the inflammatory response (Jaggar et al., 1998; Calignano et al., 1998). There is also evidence that cannabinoids are effective in the treatment of migraine headaches (Russo,

1998). Therefore, several opportunities exist for modulation of pain by cannabinoids, especially through novel mechanistic approaches.

12.3. Anxiety

Studies in humans and animals indicate that cannabinoid agonists have an anxiolytic effect. This effect appears to be dose dependent, with low doses being anxiolytic and higher doses increasing anxiety in some cases. For example, low doses of HU210 have been shown to have anxiolytic properties (Rodriguez de Fonseca et al., 1997), whereas high doses are anxiogenic (Giuliani et al., 2000). The inverse agonist SR141716A (Landsman et al., 1997) induces anxiety-like responses in rats (Navarro et al., 1997; Akinshola et al., 1999), possibly by inhibition of the tonic level of CB1 receptor activity in the absence of agonist. Cannabidiol, the nonpsychoactive cannabinoid, also has anxiolytic properties in rats, although over a relatively limited dose range (Guimaraes et al., 1990).

Nabilone has been studied for its anxiolytic properties. In one double-blind placebo-controlled study, patients suffering from anxiety showed a "dramatic improvement" after nabilone treatment for 28 days (Fabre & McLendon, 1981). A single-dose regimen of treatment with nabilone in anxious patients was less efficacious; however, a small percentage of patients did show improvement in this study (Glass et al., 1980). Some side effects, including orthostatic hypotension and drowsiness, were reported in both studies.

12.4. Feeding behavior

Therapeutic manipulation of the endogenous cannabinoid system has the potential to increase or decrease feeding. Increased feeding is desirable in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome–wasting syndrome, and marijuana is effective for this purpose (Mechoulam, 1999). It has been suggested that cannabinoid agonists could also be effective for the pain and anxiety associated with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome–wasting syndrome (Watson et al., 2000). Anandamide, the endogenous cannabinoid, also increases feeding through a CB1 receptor-mediated mechanism (Williams & Kirkham, 1999).

Therapeutic manipulation of the endocannabinoid system may also be useful in the treatment of obesity. The CB1 selective antagonist SR141716A blocks the increase in feeding associated with administration of anandamide (Williams & Kirkham, 1999). SR141716A alone caused appetite suppression and weight loss, and although tolerance developed to the appetite suppression, the body weight of treated animals remained below that of control animals for the duration of the study (Colombo et al., 1998). The effect of SR141716A could be related to its activity as an inverse agonist at the CB1 receptor (Landsman et al., 1997), indicating that a tonic level of CB1 receptor activation may be an important factor in feeding behavior.

12.5. Movement disorders

The endogenous cannabinoid system plays a regulatory role in the basal ganglia, an area thought to be important in the control of movement. It has been suggested that the endocannabinoid system establishes a "set point" of excitatory and inhibitory inputs within the basal ganglia (Rodriguez de Fonseca et al., 1998). Parkinson's disease (Sanudo-Pena et al., 1998), dyskinesias, dystonias, as well as Huntington chorea (Glass et al., 1993; Richfield & Herkenham, 1994), Gilles de Tourette syndrome (Muller-Vahl et al., 1998), and multiple sclerosis (Baker et al., 2000) should be considered candidates for cannabinoid-based therapy (reviewed in Rodriguez de Fonseca et al., 1998).

12.6. Glaucoma

The ability of smoked marijuana to lower intraocular pressure (IOP) was first noted in the early 1970s (Hepler & Frank, 1971). At the time, the mechanism of action of marijuana was not clear. However, recent studies into the expression of cannabinoid receptors in the eye, as well as the effects of novel cannabinoid agonists, are beginning to elucidate the mechanism of action. Immunohistochemical analysis of the anterior eye has shown expression of CB1 receptors in the ciliary pigment epithelium, where they could have an effect on aqueous humor production, and the trabecular meshwork and Schlemm's canal, where they could have an effect on aqueous humor outflow (Straiker et al., 1999). Topical application of three different cannabinoid agonists has been shown to lower IOP. WIN55212-2 decreased IOP in rabbits, and this effect was blocked by the CB1 antagonist SR141716A, suggesting that it is CB1 receptor-mediated (Song & Slowey, 2000). Anandamide has been shown to lower IOP in normotensive rabbits in a dose-dependent manner (Pate et al., 1995). CP55940 has also been shown to be effective for lowering IOP (Pate et al., 1998). Several cannabinoid compounds without systemic effects are currently being developed for topical application to treat glaucoma (Buchwald et al., 2000).

12.7. Neuroprotection

Cannabinoids have been implicated as neuroprotective agents. However, it is not clear whether or not this is a CB1 receptor-dependent process. WIN55212-2 and CP55940 have been shown to protect cultured rat hippocampal neurons from glutamate-induced death by a CB1 receptor-mediated process that is blocked by SR141716A (Shen et al., 1996; Shen & Thayer, 1998). WIN55212-2 is also neuroprotective in a rat model of ischemic brain injury, and this effect is also blocked by SR141716A (Nagayama et al., 1999). In contrast, Δ^9 -THC, as well as cannabidiol, which has very low affinity for the CB1 receptor, both decrease glutamate toxicity in rat cortical neuron cultures by a receptor-independent process that is not blocked by SR141716A (Hampson et al., 1998). HU211, a nonpsychotropic cannabinoid that also has very low affinity for the CB1 receptor, acts as a neuroprotective agent after closed-head injury in rats (Shohami et al., 1993) and in cultured neuronal preparations after glutamate toxicity (Nadler et al., 1993). HU211 is also neuroprotective after ischemic insult in rodents (Bar-Joseph et al., 1994; Belayev et al., 1995). The neuroprotective effects of HU211 probably are due to its ability to block *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (Feigenbaum et al., 1989).

12.8. Cardiovascular disease

Modulation of the endocannabinoid system has potential in the treatment of certain forms of hypertension, as well as shock-related hypotension (reviewed in Hillard, 2000; Randall & Kendall, 1998). Recent reports indicate that cannabinoid compounds cause vasodilation and hypotension by a CB1 receptor-mediated process. The anandamideinduced decrease in systemic blood pressure in anesthetized guinea pigs is blocked by CB1 receptor antagonists and is augmented by the reuptake inhibitor AM404 (Calignano et al., 1997). The CB1 agonist HU210 also causes hypotension in anesthetized rats (Vidrio et al., 1996). The CB1 antagonist SR141716A inhibits the hypotension associated with endotoxin-induced shock in rats, and increases the rate of survival (Varga et al., 1998). However, SR141716A shortened survival after hemmorhagic shock (Wagner et al., 1997). A decrease in vasodilation after administration of SR141716A may further compromise tissue perfusion in cases of hemmorhagic shock, and may explain the decreased survival under these conditions (Varga et al., 1998). CB1-dependent hypotension may be due to decreased sympathetic outflow through inhibition of norepinephrine release from sympathetic nerve terminals (Ishac et al., 1996). Cannabinoid compounds also have effects on vascular tone (Gebremedhin et al., 1999) and directly on the vascular endothelium (Jarai et al., 1999) that appear to be CB1 receptor-independent. A CB1 agonist could be useful for hypertension resulting from aberrant sympathetic outflow, and a CB1 antagonist might be useful for the treatment of hypotension associated with endotoxininduced shock.

13. Summary

Evidence beginning with the early history of humans indicates that there is a potential for the therapeutic use of cannabinoids for a variety of disorders. Recent scientific investigations have begun to elucidate the mechanisms of action responsible for these effects. Two subtypes of cannabinoid receptors have been identified, and there are indications that other family members may exist. In addition, several endogenous ligands for the cannabinoid receptors have been documented, with the possibility that others also exist. Endogenous cannabinoids act as neurotransmitters and appear to have a modulatory role in the CNS. Therapeutic potential exists for the use of cannabinoid compounds as neuroprotective agents; to alleviate pain; and to treat anxiety, emesis, obesity, movement disorders, and glaucoma. Subtype-specific ligands, as well as the use of potentiators and partial agonists, may help to eliminate side effects associated with classical cannabinoids. In addition, research identifying mechanisms of endogenous cannabinoid release, reuptake, and degradation is providing new targets for therapeutic intervention. Although psychotropic side effects and public opinion have limited therapeutic development in this area, our current state of understanding has renewed interest in the therapeutic potential of the endocannabinoid system. New targets for intervention have been identified that may help to limit side effects and enable us to develop novel and effective endocannabinoid-based treatments for a variety of intractable disorders in the near future.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank George G. Nomikos and Eric L. Barker for critical review of this manuscript.

References

Adams, R. (1942). Marihuana. Harvey Lect 37, 168-197.

- Akinshola, B. E., Chakrabarti, A., & Onaivi, E. S. (1999). In-vitro and invivo action of cannabinoids. *Neurochem Res* 24, 1233–1240.
- Arreaza, G., Devane, W. A., Omeir, R. L., Sajnani, G., Kunz, J., Cravatt, B. F., & Deutsch, D. G. (1997). The cloned rat hydrolytic enzyme responsible for the breakdown of anandamide also catalyzes its formation via the condensation of arachidonic acid and ethanolamine. *Neurosci Lett 234*, 59–62.
- Bachur, N. R., Masek, K., Melmon, K. L., & Udenfriend, S. (1965). Fatty acid amides of ethanolamine in mammalian tissues. J Biol Chem 240, 1019–1024.
- Baker, D., Pryce, G., Croxford, J. L., Brown, P., Pertwee, R. G., Huffman, J. W., & Layward, L. (2000). Cannabinoids control spasticity and tremor in a multiple sclerosis model. *Nature* 404, 84–87.
- Bar-Joseph, A., Berkovitch, Y., Adamchik, J., & Biegon, A. (1994). Neuroprotective activity of HU-211, a novel NMDA antagonist, in global ischemia in gerbils. *Mol Chem Neuropathol* 23, 125–135.
- Belayev, L., Bar-Joseph, A., Adamchik, J., & Biegon, A. (1995). HU-211, a nonpsychotropic cannabinoid, improves neurological signs and reduces brain damage after severe forebrain ischemia in rats. *Mol Chem Neuropathol* 25, 19–33.
- Beltramo, M., Stella, N., Calignano, A., Lin, S. Y., Makriyannis, A., & Piomelli, D. (1997). Functional role of high-affinity anandamide transport, as revealed by selective inhibition. *Science* 277, 1094–1097.
- Bisogno, T., Berrendero, F., Ambrosino, G., Cebeira, M., Ramos, J. A., Fernandez-Ruiz, J. J., & Di Marzo, V. (1999). Brain regional distribu-

tion of endocannabinoids: implications for their biosynthesis and biological function. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 256*, 377–380.

- Boger, D. L., Sato, H., Lerner, A. E., Austin, B. J., Patterson, J. E., Patricelli, M. F., & Cravatt, B. F. (1999). Triflouromethyl ketone inhibitors of fatty acid amide hydrolase: a probe of structural and conformational features contributing to inhibition. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 9, 265–270.
- Boger, D. L., Sato, H., Lerner, A. E., Hedrick, M. P., Fecik, R. A., Miyauchi, H., Wilkie, G. D., Austin, B. J., Patricelli, M. P., & Cravatt, B. F. (2000). Exceptionally potent inhibitors of fatty acid amide hydrolase: the enzyme responsible for degradation of endogenous oleamide and anandamide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97*, 5044–5049.
- Bohme, G. A., Laville, M., Ledent, C., Parmentier, M., & Imperato, A. (2000). Enhanced long-term potentiation in mice lacking cannabinoid CB1 receptors. *Neuroscience* 95, 5–7.
- Bouaboula, M., Rinaldi, M., Carayon, P., Carillon, C., Delpech, B., Shire, D., Le Fur, G., & Casellas, P. (1993). Cannabinoid-receptor expression in human leukocytes. *Eur J Biochem* 214, 173–180.
- Bouaboula, M., Poinot-Chazel, C., Bourrie, B., Canat, X., Calandra, B., Rinaldi-Carmona, M., Le Fur, G., & Casellas, P. (1995). Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases by stimulation of the central cannabinoid receptor CB1. *Biochem J 312*, 637–641.
- Bouaboula, M., Bianchini, L., McKenzie, F. R., Pouyssegur, J., & Casellas, P. (1999a). Cannabinoid receptor CB1 activates the Na+/H + exchanger NHE-1 isoform via Gi-mediated mitogen activated protein kinase signaling transduction pathways. *FEBS Lett* 449, 61–65.
- Bouaboula, M., Desnoyer, N., Carayon, P., Combes, T., & Casellas, P. (1999b). Gi protein modulation induced by a selective inverse agonist for the peripheral cannabinoid receptor CB2: implication for intracellular signalization cross-regulation. *Mol Pharmacol* 55, 473–480.
- Buchwald, A., Browne, C. E., Wu, W. M., Ji, F., & Bodor, N. (2000). Soft cannabinoid analogues as potential anti-glaucoma agents. *Pharmazie* 55, 196–201.
- Buckley, N. E., Hansson, S., Harta, G., & Mezey, E. (1998). Expression of the CB1 and CB2 receptor messenger RNAs during embryonic development in the rat. *Neuroscience* 82, 1131–1149.
- Buckley, N. E., McCoy, K. L., Mezey, E., Bonner, T., Zimmer, A., Felder, C. C., & Glass, M. (2000). Immunomodulation by cannabinoids is absent in mice deficient for the cannabinoid CB(2) receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol* 396, 141–149.
- Cadas, H., di Tomaso, E., & Piomelli, D. (1997). Occurrence and biosynthesis of endogenous cannabinoid precursor N-arachidonoyl phosphatidylethanolamine, in rat brain. J Neurosci 17, 1226–1242.
- Calignano, A., La Rana, G., Beltramo, M., Makriyannis, A., & Piomelli, D. (1997). Potentiation of anandamide hypotension by the transport inhibitor AM404. *Eur J Pharmacol 337*, R1–R2.
- Calignano, A., La Rana, G., Giuffrida, A., & Piomelli, D. (1998). Control of pain initiation by endogenous cannabinoids. *Nature* 394, 277–281.
- Caulfield, M. P., & Brown, D. A. (1992). Cannabinoid receptor agonists inhibit Ca current in NG108-15 neuroblastoma cells via a pertussis toxin-sensitive mechanism. *Br J Pharmacol 106*, 231–232.
- Colombo, G., Agabio, R., Diaz, G., Lobina, C., Reali, R., & Gessa, G. L. (1998). Appetite suppression and weight loss after the cannabinoid antagonist SR 141716. *Life Sci 63*, L113–L117.
- Cravatt, B. F., Giang, D. K., Mayfield, S. P., Boger, D. L., Lerner, R. A., & Gilula, N. B. (1996). Molecular characterization of an enzyme that degrades neuromodulatory fatty-acid amides. *Nature* 384, 83–87.
- Deadwyler, S. A., Hampson, R. E., Bennett, B. A., Edwards, T. A., Mu, J., Pacheco, M. A., Ward, S. J., & Childers, S. R. (1993). Cannabinoids modulate potassium current in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Recept Channels 1*, 121–134.
- Desarnaud, F., Cadas, H., & Piomelli, D. (1995). Anandamide amidohydrolase activity in rat brain microsomes. Identification and partial characterization. *J Biol Chem* 270, 6030–6035.
- Deutsch, D. G., & Chin, S. A. (1993). Enzymatic synthesis and degradation of anandamide, a cannabinoid receptor agonist. *Biochem Pharmacol 46*, 791–796.
- Deutsch, D. G., Goligorsky, M. S., Schmid, P. C., Krebsbach, R. J.,

Schmid, H. H., Das, S. K., Dey, S. K., Arreaza, G., Thorup, C., Stefano, G., & Moore, L. C. (1997). Production and physiological actions of anandamide in the vasculature of the rat kidney. *J Clin Invest 100*, 1538–1546.

- Devane, W. A., & Axelrod, J. (1994). Enzymatic synthesis of anandamide, an endogenous ligand for the cannabinoid receptor, by brain membranes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91*, 6698–6701.
- Devane, W. A., Dysarz, F. A., 3rd, Johnson, M. R., Melvin, L. S., & Howlett, A. C. (1988). Determination and characterization of a cannabinoid receptor in rat brain. *Mol Pharmacol* 34, 605–613.
- Devane, W. A., Hanus, L., Breuer, A., Pertwee, R. G., Stevenson, L. A., Griffin, G., Gibson, D., Mandelbaum, A., Etinger, A., & Mechoulam, R. (1992). Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. *Science* 258, 1946–1949.
- Di Marzo, V. (1998). "Endocannabinoids" and other fatty acid derivatives with cannabimimetic properties: biochemistry and possible physiopathological relevance. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1392, 153–175.
- Di Marzo, V., & Deutsch, D. G. (1998). Biochemistry of the endogenous ligands of cannabinoid receptors. *Neurobiol Dis* 5, 386–404.
- Di Marzo, V., Fontana, A., Cadas, H., Schinelli, S., Cimino, G., Schwartz, J. C., & Piomelli, D. (1994). Formation and inactivation of endogenous cannabinoid anandamide in central neurons. *Nature* 372, 686–691.
- Di Marzo, V., De Petrocellis, L., Sepe, N., & Buono, A. (1996). Biosynthesis of anandamide and related acylethanolamides in mouse J774 macrophages and N18 neuroblastoma cells. *Biochem J 316*, 977–984.
- Di Marzo, V., Bisogno, T., Sugiura, T., Melck, D., & De Petrocellis, L. (1998). The novel endogenous cannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol is inactivated by neuronal- and basophil-like cells: connections with anandamide. *Biochem J* 331, 15–19.
- Emilien, G., Beyreuther, K., Masters, C. L., & Maloteaux, J. M. (2000). Prospects for pharmacological intervention in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* 57, 454–459.
- Epps, D. E., Natarajan, V., Schmid, P. C., & Schmid, H. H. O. (1979). N-acylethanolamine accumulation in infacted myocardium. *Biochem Biophys Commun* 90, 628–633.
- Fabre, L. F., & McLendon, D. (1981). The efficacy and safety of nabilone (a synthetic cannabinoid) in the treatment of anxiety. *J Clin Pharmacol* 21 (suppl.), 377S–382S.
- Facci, L., Dal Toso, R., Romanello, S., Buriani, A., Skaper, S. D., & Leon, A. (1995). Mast cells express a peripheral cannabinoid receptor with differential sensitivity to anandamide and palmitoylethanolamide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92*, 3376–3380.
- Feigenbaum, J. J., Bergmann, F., Richmond, S. A., Mechoulam, R., Nadler, Y., Kloog, Y., & Sokolovsky, M. (1989). Nonpsychotropic cannabinoid acts as a functional N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blocker. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86*, 9584–9587.
- Felder, C. C., Veluz, J. S., Williams, H. L., Briley, E. M., & Matsuda, L. A. (1992). Cannabinoid agonists stimulate both receptor- and non-receptor-mediated signal transduction pathways in cells transfected with and expressing cannabinoid receptor clones. *Mol Pharmacol* 42, 838–845. Erratum: Mol Pharmacol 46, 397 (1994).
- Felder, C. C., Briley, E. M., Axelrod, J., Simpson, J. T., Mackie, K., & Devane, W. A. (1993). Anandamide, an endogenous cannabimimetic eicosanoid, binds to the cloned human cannabinoid receptor and stimulates receptor-mediated signal transduction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 7656–7660.
- Felder, C. C., Joyce, K. E., Briley, E. M., Mansouri, J., Mackie, K., Blond, O., Lai, Y., Ma, A. L., & Mitchell, R. L. (1995). Comparison of the pharmacology and signal transduction of the human cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* 48, 443–450.
- Felder, C. C., Nielsen, A., Briley, E. M., Palkovits, M., Priller, J., Axelrod, J., Nguyen, D. N., Richardson, J. M., Riggin, R. M., Koppel, G. A., Paul, S. M., & Becker, G. W. (1996). Isolation and measurement of the endogenous cannabinoid receptor agonist, anandamide, in brain and peripheral tissues of human and rat. *FEBS Lett 393*, 231–235.
- Felder, C. C., Joyce, K. E., Briley, E. M., Glass, M., Mackie, K. P., Fahey,

K. J., Cullinan, G. J., Hunden, D. C., Johnson, D. W., Chaney, M. O., Koppel, G. A., & Brownstein, M. (1998). LY320135, a novel cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonist, unmasks coupling of the CB1 receptor to stimulation of cAMP accumulation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther 284*, 291–297.

- Fernandez-Ruiz, J., Berrendero, F., Hernandez, M. L., & Ramos, J. A. (2000). The endogenous cannabinoid system and brain development. *Trends Neurosci* 23, 14–20.
- Galve-Roperh, I., Sanchez, C., Cortes, M. L., del Pulgar, T. G., Izquierdo, M., & Guzman, M. (2000). Anti-tumoral action of cannabinoids: involvement of sustained ceramide accumulation and extracellular signalregulated kinase activation. *Nat Med* 6, 313–319.
- Gebremedhin, D., Lange, A. R., Campbell, W. B., Hillard, C. J., & Harder, D. R. (1999). Cannabinoid CB1 receptor of cat cerebral arterial muscle functions to inhibit L-type Ca2+ channel current. *Am J Physiol 276*, H2085–H2093.
- Gifford, A. N., Bruneus, M., Gatley, S. J., Lan, R., Makriyannis, A., & Volkow, N. D. (1999a). Large receptor reserve for cannabinoid actions in the central nervous system. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther 288*, 478–483.
- Gifford, A. N., Bruneus, M., Lin, S., Goutopoulos, A., Makriyannis, A., Volkow, N. D., & Gatley, S. J. (1999b). Potentiation of the action of anandamide on hippocampal slices by the fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibitor, palmitylsulphonyl fluoride (AM 374). *Eur J Pharmacol 383*, 9–14.
- Giuffrida, A., & Piomelli, D. (1998). Isotope dilution GC/MS determination of anandamide and other fatty acylethanolamides in rat blood plasma. *FEBS Lett 422*, 373–376.
- Giuffrida, A., Parsons, L. H., Kerr, T. M., Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Navarro, D., & Piomelli, D. (1999). Dopamine activation of endogenous cannabinoid signaling in dorsal striatum. *Nat Neurosci 2*, 358–563.
- Giuliani, D., Ferrari, F., & Ottani, A. (2000). The cannabinoid agonist HU 210 modifies rat behavioural responses to novelty and stress. *Pharma*col Res 41, 47–53.
- Glass, M., & Dragunow, M. (1995). Induction of the Krox 24 transcription factor in striosomes by a cannabinoid agonist. *Neuroreport* 6, 241–244.
- Glass, M., & Felder, C. C. (1997). Concurrent stimulation of cannabinoid CB1 and dopamine D2 receptors augments cAMP accumulation in striatal neurons: evidence for a Gs linkage to the CB1 receptor. *J Neurosci* 17, 5327–5333.
- Glass, M., & Northup, J. K. (1999). Agonist selective regulation of G proteins by cannabinoid CB(1) and CB(2) receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* 56, 1362–1369.
- Glass, M., Faull, R. L., & Dragunow, M. (1993). Loss of cannabinoid receptors in the substantia nigra in Huntington's disease. *Neuroscience* 56, 523–527.
- Glass, M., Dragunow, M., & Faull, R. L. (1997). Cannabinoid receptors in the human brain: a detailed anatomical and quantitative autoradiographic study in the fetal, neonatal and adult human brain. *Neuroscience* 77, 299–318.
- Glass, R. M., Uhlenhuth, E. H., Hartel, F. W., Schuster, C. R., & Fischman, M. W. (1980). A single dose study of nabilone, a synthetic cannabinoid. *Psychopharmacology* 71, 137–142.
- Gomez del Pulgar, T., Velasco, G., & Guzman, M. (2000). The CB1 cannabinoid receptor is coupled to the activation of protein kinase B/Akt. *Biochem J* 347, 369–373.
- Griffin, G., Tao, Q., & Abood, M. E. (2000). Cloning and pharmacological characterization of the rat CB(2) cannabinoid receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292, 886–894.
- Guimaraes, F. S., Chiaretti, T. M., Graeff, F. G., & Zuardi, A. W. (1990). Antianxiety effect of cannabidiol in the elevated plus-maze. *Psychopharmacology* 100, 558–559.
- Hampson, A. J., Grimaldi, M., Axelrod, J., & Wink, D. (1998). Cannabidiol and (-)Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol are neuroprotective antioxidants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95*, 8268–8273.
- Hansen, H. S., Moesgaard, B., Hansen, H. H., Schousboe, A., & Petersen, G. (1999). Formation of N-acyl-phosphatidylethanolamine and N-acyl-

lethanolamine (including anandamide) during glutamate-induced neurotoxicity. *Lipids 34* (suppl.), S327–S330.

- Hanus, L., Gopher, A., Almog, S., & Mechoulam, R. (1993). Two new unsaturated fatty acid ethanolamides in brain that bind to the cannabinoid receptor. J Med Chem 36, 3032–3034.
- Hepler, R. S., & Frank, I. R. (1971). Marihuana smoking and intraocular pressure. JAMA 217, 1392.
- Hillard, C. J. (2000). Endocannabinoids and vascular function. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 294, 27–32.
- Hillard, C. J., Wilkison, D. M., Edgemond, W. S., & Campbell, W. B. (1995). Characterization of the kinetics and distribution of N-arachidonylethanolamine (anandamide) hydrolysis by rat brain. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1257, 249–256.
- Hillard, C. J., Edgemond, W. S., Jarrahian, A., & Campbell, W. B. (1997). Accumulation of N-arachidonoylethanolamine (anandamide) into cerebellar granule cells occurs via facilitated diffusion. *J Neurochem* 69, 631–638.
- Holland, M., John Challiss, R. A., Standen, N. B., & Boyle, J. P. (1999). Cannabinoid CB1 receptors fail to cause relaxation, but couple via Gi/ Go to the inhibition of adenylyl cyclase in carotid artery smooth muscle. *Br J Pharmacol 128*, 597–604.
- Howlett, A. (1984). Inhibition of neuroblastoma adenylate cyclase by cannabinoid and nantradiol compounds. *Life Sci* 35, 1803–1810.
- Howlett, A., & Fleming, R. (1984). Cannabinoid inhibition of adenylate cyclase. Pharmacology of the response of neuroblastoma cell membranes. *Mol Pharmacol* 26, 532–538.
- Howlett, A., Qualy, J., & Khachatrain, L. (1986). Involvement of Gi in the inhibition of adenylate cyclase by cannabinoid drugs. *Mol Pharmacol* 29, 307–313.
- Ishac, E. J., Jiang, L., Lake, K. D., Varga, K., Abood, M. E., & Kunos, G. (1996). Inhibition of exocytotic noradrenaline release by presynaptic cannabinoid CB1 receptors on peripheral sympathetic nerves. *Br J Pharmacol 118*, 2023–2028.
- Jaggar, S. I., Hasnie, F. S., Sellaturay, S., & Rice, A. S. (1998). The antihyperalgesic actions of the cannabinoid anandamide and the putative CB2 receptor agonist palmitoylethanolamide in visceral and somatic inflammatory pain. *Pain* 76, 189–199.
- Jarai, Z., Wagner, J. A., Varga, K., Lake, K. D., Compton, D. R., Martin, B. M., Zimmer, A. M., Bonner, T. I., Buckley, N. E., Mezey, E., Razdan, R. K., Zimmer, A., & Kunos, G. (1999). Cannabinoid-induced mesenteric vasodilation through an endothelial site distinct from CB1 or CB2 receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96*, 14136–14141.
- Johnson, D. E., Heald, S. L., Dally, R. D., & Janis, R. A. (1993). Isolation, identification and synthesis of an endogenous arachidonic amide that inhibits calcium channel antagonist 1,4-dihydropyridine binding. *Pros*taglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 48, 429–437.
- Johnson, M. R., Rice, K. C., Howlett, A., Melvin, L. S., & Herkenham, M. (1992). The cannabinoid receptor-pharmacologic identification, anatomical localization and cloning. *NIDA Res Monogr 119*, 86–90.
- Katayama, K., Ueda, N., Katoh, I., & Yamamoto, S. (1999). Equilibrium in the hydrolysis and synthesis of cannabimimetic anandamide demonstrated by a purified enzyme. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1440, 205–214.
- Kathmann, M., Bauer, U., Schlicker, E., & Gothert, M. (1999). Cannabinoid CB1 receptor-mediated inhibition of NMDA- and kainate-stimulated noradrenaline and dopamine release in the brain. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 359, 466–470.
- Kempe, K., Hsu, F. F., Bohrer, A., & Turk, J. (1996). Isotope dilution mass spectrometric measurements indicate that arachidonylethanolamide, the proposed endogenous ligand of the cannabinoid receptor, accumulates in rat brain tissue post mortem but is contained at low levels in or is absent from fresh tissue. J Biol Chem 271, 17287–17295.
- Kent, J. M. (2000). SNaRIs, NaSSAs, and NaRIs: new agents for the treatment of depression. *Lancet* 355, 911–918.
- Koga, D., Santa, T., Fukushima, T., Homma, H., & Imai, K. (1997). Liquid chromatographic–atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometric determination of anandamide and its analogs in rat brain and peripheral tissues. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 690, 7–13.

- Kuehl, F. A., Jacob, T. A., Jr., Ganley, O. H., Ormond, R. E., & Meisinger, M. A. P. (1957). The identification of an anti-inflammatory agent present in egg yolk, soybean lecithin and peanut oil. J Am Chem Soc 79, 5577–5578.
- Kurahashi, Y., Ueda, N., Suzuki, H., Suzuki, M., & Yamamoto, S. (1997). Reversible hydrolysis and synthesis of anandamide demonstrated by recombinant rat fatty-acid amide hydrolase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 237*, 512–515.
- Lambert, D. M., & Di Marzo, V. (1999). The palmitoylethanolamide and oleamide enigmas: are these two fatty acid amides cannabimimetic? *Curr Med Chem* 6, 757–773.
- Landsman, R. S., Burkey, T. H., Consroe, P., Roeske, W. R., & Yamamura, H. I. (1997). SR141716A is an inverse agonist at the human cannabinoid CB1 receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol 334*, R1–R2.
- Landsman, R. S., Makriyannis, A., Deng, H., Consroe, P., Roeske, W. R., & Yamamura, H. I. (1998). AM630 is an inverse agonist at the human cannabinoid CB1 receptor. *Life Sci 62*, L109–L113.
- Lazareno, S., Popham, A., & Birdsall, N. J. (2000). Allosteric interactions of staurosporine and other indolocarbazoles with N-[methyl-(3)H]scopolamine and acetylcholine at muscarinic receptor subtypes: identification of a second allosteric site. *Mol Pharmacol* 58, 194–207.
- Ledent, C., Valverde, O., Cossu, G., Petitet, F., Aubert, J. F., Beslot, F., Bohme, G. A., Imperato, A., Pedrazzini, T., Roques, B. P., Vassart, G., Fratta, W., & Parmentier, M. (1999). Unresponsiveness to cannabinoids and reduced addictive effects of opiates in CB1 receptor knockout mice. *Science* 283, 401–404.
- Lemberger, L. (1999). Nabilone: a synthetic cannabinoid of medicinal value. In G. G. Nahas, K. M. Sutin, D. J. Harvey, & S. Agurell (Eds.), *Marihuana and Medicine* (pp. 561–566). Totowa: Humana Press.
- Lewis, I. H., Campbell, D. N., & Barrowcliffe, M. P. (1994). Effect of nabilone on nausea and vomiting after total abdominal hysterectomy. *Br J Anaesth* 73, 244–246.
- Link, R., Daunt, D., Barsh, G., Chruscinski, A., & Kobilka, B. (1992). Cloning of two mouse genes encoding alpha 2-adrenergic receptor subtypes and identification of a single amino acid in the mouse alpha 2-C10 homolog responsible for an interspecies variation in antagonist binding. *Mol Pharmacol* 42, 16–27.
- Little, P. J., Compton, D. R., Johnson, M. R., Melvin, L. S., & Martin, B. R. (1988). Pharmacology and stereoselectivity of structurally novel cannabinoids in mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 247, 1046–1051.
- Liu, J., Mirshahi, F., Sanyal, A. J., Khanolkar, A. D., Makiryannis, A., & Kunos, G. (2000). Functional CB1 cannabinoid receptors in human vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem J* 346, 835–840.
- Lynn, A. B., & Herkenham, M. (1994). Localization of cannabinoid receptors and nonsaturable high-density cannabinoid binding sites in peripheral tissues of the rat: implications for receptor-mediated immune modulation by cannabinoids. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 268, 1612–1623.
- Mackie, K., & Hille, B. (1992). Cannabinoids inhibit N-type calcium channels in neuroblastoma-glioma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89*, 3825–3829.
- Mackie, K., Lai, Y., Westenbroek, R., & Mitchell, R. (1995). Cannabinoids activate an inwardly rectifying potassium conductance and inhibit Q-type calcium currents in AtT20 cells transfected with rat brain cannabinoid receptor. J Neurosci 15, 6552–6561.
- Mailleux, P., & Vanderhaeghen, J. J. (1992). Localization of cannabinoid receptor in the human developing and adult basal ganglia. Higher levels in the striatonigral neurons. *Neurosci Lett 148*, 173–176.
- Manzanares, J., Corchero, J., Romero, J., Fernandez-Ruiz, J. J., Ramos, J. A., & Fuentes, J. A. (1999). Pharmacological and biochemical interactions between opioids and cannabinoids. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 20, 287–294.
- Mao, J., Price, D. D., Lu, J., Keniston, L., & Mayer, D. J. (2000). Two distinctive antinociceptive systems in rats with pathological pain. *Neurosci Lett* 280, 13–16.
- Martin, B. R., & Lichtman, A. H. (1998). Cannabinoid transmission and pain perception. *Neurobiol Dis* 5, 447–461.

- Martin, W. J., Loo, C. M., & Basbaum, A. I. (1999). Spinal cannabinoids are anti-allodynic in rats with persistent inflammation. *Pain* 82, 199–205.
- Mascia, M. S., Obinu, M. C., Ledent, C., Parmentier, M., Bohme, G. A., Imperato, A., & Fratta, W. (1999). Lack of morphine-induced dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of cannabinoid CB(1) receptor knockout mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* 383, R1–R2.
- Matsuda, L. A., Lolait, S. J., Brownstein, M. J., Young, A. C., & Bonner, T. I. (1990). Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. *Nature* 346, 561–564.
- Maurelli, S., Bisogno, T., De Petrocellis, L., Di Luccia, A., Marino, G., & Di Marzo, V. (1995). Two novel classes of neuroactive fatty acid amides are substrates for mouse neuroblastoma "anandamide amidohydrolase". *FEBS Lett* 377, 82–86.
- Mechoulam, R. (1999). Recent advantages in cannabinoid research. Forsch Komplementarmed 6 (suppl. 3), 16–20.
- Mechoulam, R., & Gaoni, Y. (1965). A total synthesis of dl delta-1tetrahydrocannabinol, the active constituent of hashish. J Am Chem Soc 87, 3273–3275.
- Mechoulam, R., Ben-Shabat, S., Hanus, L., Ligumsky, M., Kaminski, N. E., Schatz, A. R., Gopher, A., Almog, S., Martin, B. R., Compton, D. R., Pertwee, R. F., Griffin, G., Bayewitch, M., Barg, J., & Vogel, Z. (1995). Identification of an endogenous 2-monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors. *Biochem Pharmacol* 50, 83–90.
- Melvin, L. S., & Johnson, M. R. (1987). Structure–activity relationships of tricyclic and nonclassical bicyclic cannabinoids. *NIDA Res Monogr* 79, 31–47.
- Meng, I. D., Manning, B. H., Martin, W. J., & Fields, H. L. (1998). An analgesia circuit activated by cannabinoids. *Nature* 395, 381–383.
- Mu, J., Zhuang, S. Y., Kirby, M. T., Hampson, R. E., & Deadwyler, S. A. (1999). Cannabinoid receptors differentially modulate potassium A and D currents in hippocampal neurons in culture. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 291, 893–902.
- Muller-Vahl, K. R., Kolbe, H., Schneider, U., & Emrich, H. M. (1998). Cannabinoids: possible role in patho-physiology and therapy of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *Acta Psychiatr Scand 98*, 502–506.
- Munro, S., Thomas, K. L., & Abu-Shaar, M. (1993). Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. *Nature* 365, 61–65.
- Nadler, V., Mechoulam, R., & Sokolovsky, M. (1993). The non-psychotropic cannabinoid (+)-(3S,4S)-7-hydroxy-delta 6-tetrahydrocannabinol 1,1-dimethylheptyl (HU-211) attenuates N-methyl-D-aspartate receptormediated neurotoxicity in primary cultures of rat forebrain. *Neurosci Lett* 162, 43–45.
- Nagayama, T., Sinor, A. D., Simon, R. P., Chen, J., Graham, S. H., Jin, K., & Greenberg, D. A. (1999). Cannabinoids and neuroprotection in global and focal cerebral ischemia and in neuronal cultures. *J Neurosci 19*, 2987–2995.
- Nakazi, M., Bauer, U., Nickel, T., Kathmann, M., & Schlicker, E. (2000). Inhibition of serotonin release in the mouse brain via presynaptic cannabinoid CB1 receptors. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 361*, 19–24.
- Navarro, M., Hernandez, E., Munoz, R. M., del Arco, I., Villanua, M. A., Carrera, M. R., & Rodriguez de Fonseca, F. (1997). Acute administration of the CB1 cannabinoid receptor antagonist SR 141716A induces anxiety-like responses in the rat. *Neuroreport* 8, 491–496.
- Parker, E. M., Grisel, D. A., Iben, L. G., & Shapiro, R. A. (1993). A single amino acid difference accounts for the pharmacological distinctions between the rat and human 5-hydroxytryptamine1B receptors. *J Neurochem* 60, 380–383.
- Pate, D. W., Jarvinen, K., Urtti, A., Jarho, P., & Jarvinen, T. (1995). Ophthalmic arachidonylethanolamide decreases intraocular pressure in normotensive rabbits. *Curr Eye Res* 14, 791–797.
- Pate, D. W., Jarvinen, K., Urtti, A., Mahadevan, V., & Jarvinen, T. (1998). Effect of the CB1 receptor antagonist, SR141716A, on cannabinoidinduced ocular hypotension in normotensive rabbits. *Life Sci 63*, 2181–2188.
- Patricelli, M. P., & Cravatt, B. F. (1999). Fatty acid amide hydrolase com-

petitively degrades bioactive amides and esters through a nonconventional catalytic mechanism. *Biochemistry* 38, 14125–14130.

- Pertwee, R. G., Joe-Adigwe, G., & Hawksworth, G. M. (1996). Further evidence for the presence of cannabinoid CB1 receptors in mouse vas deferens. *Eur J Pharmacol 296*, 169–172.
- Portier, M., Rinaldi-Carmona, M., Pecceu, F., Combes, T., Poinot-Chazel, C., Calandra, B., Barth, F., le Fur, G., & Casellas, P. (1999). SR 144528, an antagonist for the peripheral cannabinoid receptor that behaves as an inverse agonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 288, 582–589.
- Priestman, S. G., Priestman, T. J., & Canney, P. A. (1987). A double-blind randomised cross-over comparison of nabilone and metoclopramide in the control of radiation-induced nausea. *Clin Radiol* 38, 543–544.
- Priller, J., Briley, E. M., Mansouri, J., Devane, W. A., Mackie, K., & Felder, C. C. (1995). Mead ethanolamide, a novel eicosanoid, is an agonist for the central (CB1) and peripheral (CB2) cannabinoid receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* 48, 288–292.
- Rakhshan, F., Day, T. A., Blakely, R. D., & Barker, E. L. (2000). Carriermediated uptake of the endogenous cannabinoid anandamide in RBL-2H3 cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292, 960–967.
- Randall, M. D., & Kendall, D. A. (1998). Endocannabinoids: a new class of vasoactive substances. *Trends Pharmacol Sci 19*, 55–58.
- Rice, W., Shannon, J. M., Burton, F., & Fiedeldey, D. (1997). Expression of a brain-type cannabinoid receptor (CB1) in alveolar Type II cells in the lung: regulation by hydrocortisone. *Eur J Pharmacol 327*, 227–232.
- Richfield, E. K., & Herkenham, M. (1994). Selective vulnerability in Huntington's disease: preferential loss of cannabinoid receptors in lateral globus pallidus. *Ann Neurol* 36, 577–584.
- Rinaldi-Carmona, M., Calandra, B., Shire, D., Bouaboula, M., Oustric, D., Barth, F., Casellas, P., Ferrara, P., & Le Fur, G. (1996). Characterization of two cloned human CB1 cannabinoid receptor isoforms. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther 278*, 871–878.
- Rinaldi-Carmona, M., Le Duigou, A., Oustric, D., Barth, F., Bouaboula, M., Carayon, P., Casellas, P., & Le Fur, G. (1998). Modulation of CB1 cannabinoid receptor functions after a long-term exposure to agonist or inverse agonist in the Chinese hamster ovary cell expression system. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 287, 1038–1047.
- Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Ramos, J. A., Bonnin, A., & Fernandez-Ruiz, J. J. (1993). Presence of cannabinoid binding sites in the brain from early postnatal ages. *Neuroreport* 4, 135–138.
- Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Carrera, M. R. A., Navarro, M., Koob, G. F., & Weiss, F. (1997). Activation of corticotropin-releasing factor in the limbic system during cannabinoid withdrawal. *Science* 276, 2050–2054.
- Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Del Arco, I., Martin-Calderon, J. L., Gorriti, M. A., & Navarro, M. (1998). Role of the endogenous cannabinoid system in the regulation of motor activity. *Neurobiol Dis* 5, 483–501.
- Russo, E. (1998). Cannabis for migraine treatment: the once and future prescription? An historical and scientific review. *Pain 76*, 3–8.
- Sanudo-Pena, M. C., Patrick, S. L., Khen, S., Patrick, R. L., Tsou, K., & Walker, J. M. (1998). Cannabinoid effects in basal ganglia in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett 248*, 171–174.
- Schmid, H. H., Schmid, P. C., & Natarajan, V. (1996). The N-acylationphosphodiesterase pathway and cell signalling. *Chem Phys Lipids* 80, 133–142.
- Schmid, P. C., Zuzarte-Augustin, M. L., & Schmid, H. H. (1985). Properties of rat liver N-acylethanolamine amidohydrolase. J Biol Chem 260, 14145–14149.
- Schmid, P. C., Krebsbach, R. J., Perry, S. R., Dettmer, T. M., Maasson, J. L., & Schmid, H. H. (1995). Occurrence and postmortem generation of anandamide and other long-chain N-acylethanolamines in mammalian brain. *FEBS Lett* 375, 117–120.
- Schmid, P. C., Kuwae, T., Krebsbach, R. J., & Schmid, H. H. (1997a). Anandamide and other N-acylethanolamines in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Chem Phys Lipids* 87, 103–110.
- Schmid, P. C., Paria, B. C., Krebsbach, R. J., Schmid, H. H., & Dey, S. K. (1997b). Changes in anandamide levels in mouse uterus are associated with uterine receptivity for embryo implantation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 94, 4188–4192.

- Shen, M., & Thayer, S. A. (1998). Cannabinoid receptor agonists protect cultured rat hippocampal neurons from excitotoxicity. *Mol Pharmacol* 54, 459–462.
- Shen, M., Piser, T. M., Seybold, V. S., & Thayer, S. A. (1996). Cannabinoid receptor agonists inhibit glutamatergic synaptic transmission in rat hippocampal cultures. *J Neurosci 16*, 4322–4334.
- Shire, D., Carillon, C., Kaghad, M., Calandra, B., Rinaldi-Carmona, M., Le Fur, G., Caput, D., & Ferrara, P. (1995). An amino-terminal variant of the central cannabinoid receptor resulting from alternative splicing. J Biol Chem 270, 3726–3731. Erratum: J Biol Chem 271, 33706 (1996).
- Shohami, E., Novikov, M., & Mechoulam, R. (1993). A nonpsychotropic cannabinoid, HU-211, has cerebroprotective effects after closed head injury in the rat. J Neurotrauma 10, 109–119.
- Showalter, V. M., Compton, D. R., Martin, B. R., & Abood, M. E. (1996). Evaluation of binding in a transfected cell line expressing a peripheral cannabinoid receptor (CB2): identification of cannabinoid receptor subtype selective ligands. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther 278*, 989–999.
- Smart, D., Gunthorpe, M. J., Jerman, J. C., Nasir, S., Gray, J., Muir, A. I., Chambers, J. K., Randall, A. D., & Davis, J. B. (2000). The endogenous lipid anandamide is a full agonist at the human vanilloid receptor (hVR1). *Br J Pharmacol 129*, 227–230.
- Smith, P. B., Welch, S. P., & Martin, B. R. (1994). Interactions between delta 9-tetrahydrocannabinol and kappa opioids in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 268, 1381–1387.
- Soderstrom, K., Leid, M., Moore, F. L., & Murray, T. F. (2000). Behavioral, pharmacological, and molecular characterization of an amphibian cannabinoid receptor. J Neurochem 75, 413–423.
- Song, Z. H., & Slowey, C. A. (2000). Involvement of cannabinoid receptors in the intraocular pressure-lowering effects of WIN55212-2. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 292, 136–139.
- Straiker, A. J., Maguire, G., Mackie, K., & Lindsey, J. (1999). Localization of cannabinoid CB1 receptors in the human anterior eye and retina. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 40*, 2442–2448.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Sukagawa, A., Tonegawa, T., Nakane, S., Yamashita, A., Ishima, Y., & Waku, K. (1996a). Transacylase-mediated and phosphodiesterase-mediated synthesis of N-arachidonoylethanolamine, an endogenous cannabinoid-receptor ligand, in rat brain microsomes. Comparison with synthesis from free arachidonic acid and ethanolamine. *Eur J Biochem 240*, 53–62.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Sukagawa, A., Tonegawa, T., Nakane, S., Yamashita, A., & Waku, K. (1996b). Enzymatic synthesis of anandamide, an endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand, through N-acylphosphatidylethanolamine pathway in testis: involvement of Ca(2+)-dependent transacylase and phosphodiesterase activities. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 218*, 113–117.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Kishimoto, S., Miyashita, T., Nakane, S., Kodaka, T., Suhara, Y., Takayama, H., & Waku, K. (2000). Evidence that 2-arachidonoylglycerol but not N-palmitoylethanolamine or anandamide is the physiological ligand for the cannabinoid CB2 receptor. Comparison of the agonistic activities of various cannabinoid receptor ligands in HL-60 cells. J Biol Chem 275, 605–612.
- Szabo, B., Muller, T., & Koch, H. (1999). Effects of cannabinoids on dopamine release in the corpus striatum and the nucleus accumbens in vitro. J Neurochem 73, 1084–1089.
- Tian, W. N., Miller, D. D., & Deth, R. C. (2000). Bidirectional allosteric effects of agonists and GTP at alpha(2A/D)-adrenoceptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 292, 664–671.
- Todd, A. R. (1946). Hashish. Experientia 2, 55-60.
- Twitchell, W., Brown, S., & Mackie, K. (1997). Cannabinoids inhibit Nand P/Q-type calcium channels in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol 78, 43–50.
- Ueda, N., & Yamamoto, S. (2000). Anandamide amidohydrolase (fatty acid amide hydrolase). Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 61, 19–28.
- Ueda, N., Kurahashi, Y., Yamamoto, S., & Tokunaga, T. (1995). Partial purification and characterization of the porcine brain enzyme hydrolyzing and synthesizing anandamide. J Biol Chem 270, 23823–23827.

- Ueda, N., Kurahashi, Y., Yamamoto, K., & Yamamoto, S. (1997). Anandamide amidohydrolase from porcine brain. Partial purification and characterization. Adv Exp Med Biol 407, 323–328.
- Valverde, O., Ledent, C., Beslot, F., Parmentier, M., & Roques, B. P. (2000). Reduction of stress-induced analgesia but not of exogenous opioid effects in mice lacking CB1 receptors. *Eur J Neurosci 12*, 533–539.
- VanDenBerg, C. M., Kazmi, Y., & Jann, M. W. (2000). Cholinesterase inhibitors for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in the elderly. *Drugs Aging* 16, 123–138.
- Varga, K., Wagner, J. A., Bridgen, D. T., & Kunos, G. (1998). Platelet- and macrophage-derived endogenous cannabinoids are involved in endotoxin-induced hypotension. *FASEB J* 12, 1035–1044.
- Vasquez, C., & Lewis, D. L. (1999). The CB1 cannabinoid receptor can sequester G-proteins, making them unavailable to couple to other receptors. J Neurosci 19, 9271–9280.
- Vidrio, H., Sanchez-Salvatori, M. A., & Medina, M. (1996). Cardiovascular effects of (–)-11-OH-delta 8-tetrahydrocannabinol-dimethylheptyl in rats. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 28, 332–336.
- Wagner, J. A., Varga, K., Ellis, E. F., Rzigalinski, B. A., Martin, B. R., & Kunos, G. (1997). Activation of peripheral CB1 cannabinoid receptors in haemorrhagic shock. *Nature* 390, 518–521.
- Wagner, J. A., Varga, K., Jarai, Z., & Kunos, G. (1999). Mesenteric vasodilation mediated by endothelial anandamide receptors. *Hypertension* 33, 429–434.
- Walker, J. M., Huang, S. M., Strangman, N. M., Tsou, K., & Sanudo-Pena, M. C. (1999). Pain modulation by release of the endogenous cannabinoid anandamide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96*, 12198–12203.
- Watanabe, K., Ogi, H., Nakamura, S., Kayano, Y., Matsunaga, T., Yoshimura, H., & Yamamoto, I. (1998). Distribution and characterization of

anandamide amidohydrolase in mouse brain and liver. *Life Sci 62*, 1223-1229.

- Watson, S. J., Benson, J. A., Jr., & Joy, J. E. (2000). Marijuana and medicine: assessing the science base: a summary of the 1999 Institute of Medicine report. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 547–552.
- Welch, S. P., & Stevens, D. L. (1992). Antinociceptive activity of intrathecally administered cannabinoids alone, and in combination with morphine, in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 262, 10–18.
- Williams, C. M., & Kirkham, T. C. (1999). Anandamide induces overeating: mediation by central cannabinoid (CB1) receptors. *Psychopharma*cology 143, 315–317.
- Wong, D. T., Bymaster, F. P., & Engleman, E. A. (1995). Prozac (fluoxetine, Lilly 110140), the first selective serotonin uptake inhibitor and an antidepressant drug: twenty years since its first publication. *Life Sci* 57, 411–441.
- Yang, H. Y., Karoum, F., Felder, C., Badger, H., Wang, T. C., & Markey, S. P. (1999). GC/MS analysis of anandamide and quantification of Narachidonoylphosphatidylethanolamides in various brain regions, spinal cord, testis, and spleen of the rat. J Neurochem 72, 1959–1968.
- Zimmer, A., Zimmer, A. M., Hohmann, A. G., Herkenham, M., & Bonner, T. I. (1999). Increased mortality, hypoactivity, and hypoalgesia in cannabinoid CB1 receptor knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96*, 5780–5785.
- Zygmunt, P. M., Petersson, J., Andersson, D. A., Chuang, H., Sorgard, M., Di Marzo, V., Julius, D., & Hogestatt, E. D. (1999). Vanilloid receptors on sensory nerves mediate the vasodilator action of anandamide. *Nature* 400, 452–457.
- Zygmunt, P. M., Chuang, H., Movahed, P., Julius, D., & Hogestatt, E. D. (2000). The anandamide transport inhibitor AM404 activates vanilloid receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol 396*, 39–42.